ARCHIVES PROCESSING NOTE

You will find two versions of the document withdrawal sheets in this file. The original
document withdrawal sheets were completed in the 1970s and early 1980s. Since that time,
many of the documents have been declassified. In an effort to make the withdrawal sheets easier
to use, we have updated the withdrawal sheets, listing only the documents that are still closed.
Use these updated withdrawal sheets to request Mandatory Declassification Review of closed
security classified documents.

The original withdrawal sheets are in a mylar sleeve in the front of the folder. We have retained
them in the file so that you can see the status of the documents when the folder was opened and
the history of their declassification. Please replace the sheets in the mylar sleeve when you have
finished examining them.

April 23,2014
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THE WHITE HOUSE

TQP”~gCRIIn WASHINGTON

September 20, 1964
MEMORANDUM FOR THE RECORD:
Subject: The Gulf of Tonkin Incident, September 18.

Our first information on this episode came at about 9:15 Friday morn-
ing, Washington time. Subsequent messages during the morning made
it clear that the episode was not comparable to those of August, in
that the reporting was more cautious and the evidence of actual hostile
attack thin to non-existent.

At noon on Friday we reviewed in Bob McNamara's office the pos-
sibilities for additional reply. The initial proposal of the Joint Chiefs
was that we should attack the major POL. installations in the Hanoi/
Haiphong area, that in order to conduct these attacks we must first
attack and neutralize the MIGs in the same area. Dean Rusk opposed
so large an action right from the beginning, urging instead that if the
episode proved to be confirmed attack on our forces, we should execute
a strike but at a lower level of force. Bob McNamara elicited from
General LeMay the information that strikes in the southern part of
North Vietnam would not require neutralizing attacks on the MIGs.
McNamara then instructed the Joint Staff to work on three alternative
orders: (1) to attack the air and oil installation in the north in and
around Hanoi; (2) to attack selected targets in the south; and (3) to
continue patrolling, perhaps closer to the 12-mile line or even inside
it.

At about 2:30 we met with the President in the Mansion --Secretary
McNamara, General Wheeler, Mr. McNaughton, Tommy Thompson
and myself. (Dean Rusk had a luncheon meeting which he could not
break.) The President proved very skeptical about the evidence to
date, and he was deeply annoyed that leaks apparently from the
Pentagon were producing pressure for a public statement before we
knew whatwe wanted to say. He pressed hi® own skeptical views and
made it clear that he was not interested in rapid escalation on so frail
evidence and with a very fragile government in South Vietnam. He
authorized a brief interim statement as drafted by McNamara during
the meeting, and he authorized preparatory orders for the strike against

TT3P GECRET -
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southern targets not defended by MIGs.

Through the afternoon, further reports made it more and more clear
that there was no proof of a premeditated torpedo boat attack. The
opinion hardened against any further immediate military reply. The
President continued skeptical. He resisted any suggestion of a
further statement. The preparatory orders were cancelled. By
Friday evening, at the top of the Government, it was believed that
the matter should be ended, and that we should take overnight to see
what else could be learned -- especially from air and sea search by
daylight.

By Saturday morning it was clear that the search had proven negative.
Summary reports from GINCPAC and others somewhat hardened the
evidence that vessels had been in the area, but the general conclusion
was that these vessels had not attempted an aggressive attack. In
these circumstances, the President reviewed and authorized a state-
ment by Secretary McNamara (attached at Tab A), and himself agreed
to conduct a backgrounder with the White House press (attached at
Tab B).

In this meeting in the Cabinet Room between 11 and 1, the following
were present: The President, Rusk, Ball, McNamara, Thompson,
McNaughton, Vance, Wheeler, Rowan, Carter, Reedy, B. Smith,
McG. Bundy. In this meeting the Presi dent continued to make
clear his very grave doubt that there had been any hostile vessels,
let alone an intent to attack. McNamara summarized the evidence,
adducing not only the continuous radar contacts, both search and
fire control, but two seamen's eyewitness reports, a pilot's report
of sighting wakes from covering aircraft, and an intercept which
appeared to indicate aBR!”report that DRtf ships were under attack.
The President found onlythe intercept persuasive (and it is significant
that even this evidence was countered by a later analytical report.)

The President pressed his doubts with General Carter, who asserted
his own belief that it was probable that there were vessels. Secretary

Rusk put the probability at 99%. Secretary Rusk also pressed on the
President the importance of not seeming to doubt our naval officers
on the spot. These officers were convinced that they had been facing

TOP secret
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the enemy, and an expression of doubt from Washington would be
damaging. The President replied somewhat sharply that he was

not planning to make a radio broadcast on the matter but that he did
think it important to find out exactly what happened. He also repeated
his irritation at having his hand forced by an AP report obtained

from some junior military officer.

Secretary McNamara raised with the President the question of renew-
ing de Soto patrols at an early date. George Ball raise sharply the
question whether an early resumption of these patrols was wise. He
pointed out that before the August patrol there had been a lapse of

six months iij these patrols, and that their military value was limited.
He believed that if we should now lose a destroyer in such patrols
there would be a very grave questioning both here and abroad as to
the justification for our having taken such risks for a limited return.
The President again found considerable force in this argument.

The President asked General Wheeler to explain the military value of
de Soto patrols. General Wheeler said that the patrols were desirable
but not essential. They obtained electronic evidence on the defensive
dispositions of the North Vietnamese. Much of this information
could be obtained by aerial patrols, but surface patrol was a useful
supplement. More important to General Wheeler was the general
proposition that we should not allow ourselves to be denied free move-
ment on the high seas. Secretary Rusk supported this argument
strongly by saying that the "bandits” in North Vietnam finally needed
to know that we were in the area and had no intention of being driven
out. The President said he found force in these arguments and was
himself quite ready to continue the patrols, with all their dangers,
provided there were solid and persuasive reasons for doing so. He
pointed out that at some time in the future a brutal prosecutor like
Tom Dewey might be asking how we got into these troubles, and he
wanted to be sure that the answers would be good. flJHe reminded the
group of the Pearl Harbor hearings, and said that he did not wish to
have his people playing tennis or riding horseback when they should be

available for crucial decisions. The President then instructed Secretary
McNamara and General Wheeler to prepare a general argument showing

the justification for further de Soto patrols, and including both military
arguments and political arguments like those of Secretary Rusk. He

asked that Secretary Ball serve as critic of the argument thus developed

so that he could make a judgment on the matter.

TOP-SEGRET
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The President also directed that full contingency planning be
developed so that if anything should happen to the de Soto patrol,
the Government would be ready for immediate and appropriate
reply. The President wanted to be quite sure that we had a full and
proper response ready that would make the enemy "swallow his
teeth, " if he tried to start anything.

The President further directed the preparation of a message to
General Taylor asking for his weekly assessment of the military
situation in South Vietnam. The President pointed out that nothing
would be mo;re useful in the next six weeks than a real success on

the ground, for both domestic and international reasons. (This

cable was later prepared, and reviewed and approved by the President,
and is attached at Tab 4>

The President's summary view of this episode, as reported to me in
a telephone conversation Sunday noon, is that it is still very unclear
that there were any hostile vessels there, that it was highly
destructive to have leaks before we were ready to determine what

we wished to do about the matter, that we must all control our tongues
and arrange for tighter discipline at every level. (Il told the President
that | myself had not been as alert as | should have been to the need
for discreetness, and it turned out that he had heard me tell Jack
Valenti at a time when he did not think | needed to. The President
obviously has the problem of privacy in his own immediate decision-
making very much on his mind. But his main concern in this episode
is with looseness in military channels, and he indicated that he had
been aiming his comment mainly at Secretary McNamara for action

in DOD.)

McG. B.

TOP 5E6R £
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THE white: house

WA3 HINGTON

T»yGECIIgT>DINAR
MEMORANDUM FOR THE PRESIDENT
SUBJECT: Chronology of the Gulf of Tonkin

I attach the chronology of the Gulf of Tonkin affair which you asked for
from McNamara. | had sent it back for correction on a couple of small
points, and | have read it myself to see-if | could save you any time,
but my conclusion is that you will probably want to read it all the way
through yourself when you have time.

There is still no evidence whatever that the timing of your announcement
adversely affected the success of the operation in any way. All the
evidence, indeed, riins the other way. The appendix to this report shows
that North Vietnamese did have the aircraft in their screens before you
spoke. The post-strike estimates show that there was no significant
alert in the ports struck by the first attack from TICONDEROGA. The
planes we lost were lost in the second strike several hours later, long
after a complete alert had been given by the first attack. Moreover, it
is clear that you yourself never gave any assurance of the kind Halleck
claimed. Finally, the record of public discussion suggests that Goldwater's
charges and Halleck's have been rejected by sober commentators and by
the American people. Nevertheless this record does make it clear that
we narrowly escaped a dangerously early announcement of the attacks.
The reasons for this are four:

(1) Admiral Sharp and other military officers repeatedly assured
McNamara that it would be a simple matter to mount an air strike in the
early morning in the Gulf of Tonkin. This assurance led to initial planning
built around a 7 p.m. announcement here, and when these estimates proved
gravely optimistic, McNamara himself became increasingly impatient
and eager to get the matter announced.

(2) Communications in this around-the-world operation were
slower than McNamara and Sharp expected them to be. Thus, there were
repeated delays in getting the final orders to execute from Washington to
the carriers. There was also confusion about time zones which cost us
an hour of planned time.

(3) This same time lag, in reverse, made us slow to understand
the difference between the real operation and the one which Sharp and
McNamara had in their mind's eye. Neither of them knew until late in the
evening, our time, that there woxild be a time interval of 2-1/2 hours
TOn gnOTOT DINAR
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between the first launch and the actual strike in the case of TICONDEROGA.
They assumed 40 minutes to one hour.

(4) Finally, we were a little casual in Washington about acting
on this accurate information of TICONDEROGA's strike plan when it
did arrive. It was known”tp McNamara in the Pentagon and to officers
in the Situation Room here”before you went on the air, but no one told
me --or you --as far as | know. Indeed, Bob McNamara does not
seem to have got this fact clearly in his own mind, because in his own
press conference just after midnight he wrongly said that the carriers
"have already conducted air strikes against the North Vietnamese bases. "
The net of this is that we were saved from real trouble by your own stern
and repeated insistence on positive assurance that the planes were in the
air well before you spoke, and by the other facts cited earlier.

Bob McNamara is the ablest man in the government, but when he makes
a basic decision and gets up a head of steam, he does not always keep
the sharpest eye out for new evidence. Others of us could have been

more alert than we were to help guard against this one weakness of an
extraordinary man.

McG. B.

T(?jn TFrriFj® dinar
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OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF DEFENSE
WASHINGTON, D.c. 20301

31 AUG Idb4

MEMORANDUM FOR McGeorge Biandy
Special Assistant to the President
for National Security Affairs

I am attaching the chronology of the events surrounding

the strike in the Gulf of Tonkin on August 4 and 5, 1964,
that the President requested from Secretary McNamara.
A, Califano, Jr.
pecial Assistant
Attachment
As stated
DECLASSIFIED

Anfhoriry
Rw mNARA, Datc.M ££ 412126

DINAR
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.3 A
CHRONOLOGY OF EVENTS
TUESDAY, AUGUST 4
and
WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 5, 1964
TONKIN GULF STRIKE
SANITIZED 41212B
Authority Ay Z'n-a”
By _J565bNARA.Date23£6f August 28, 1964
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INTRODUCTION

This is a chronological account of the events of Tuesday,
August 4, 1964 and Wednesday, August 5 1964 as they relate to
the attacks on the destroyers MADDOX and C TURNER JOY in
international waters by patrol boats of the North Vietnamese
Navy and the subsequently executed retaliatory strikes against
the North Vietnamese by naval aircraft from the USS CONSTEL-
LATION and TICONDEROGA.

No chronology, of course, can ever hope to capture the full
flavor and intensity of these two days in August. The events were
complex, the pressures were great. Throughout, however, a
number of basic themes emerge. There is the search for options,
as word of the second attack on the destroyers filters in early on
the morning of August 4th. These options must be shaped not only
to the immediate problem of dealing swiftly and sharply with the
PT Boat Bases but must, in the selection of additional reinforce-
ments, deal as well with the long range strategic implications of
the situation. There is a period of carefully refining these options
for the President, the ultimate decision resting in his hands.
Planning the strike occupies a good part of the afternoon of the
4th, coupled with the insistent demand that the attacks on the
destroyers be verified clearly and convincingly. Throughout
the evening, word is awaited for the first launch, signalling the
start of the retaliatory response. The launches begin at 10:43 PM,
EDT, and the President goes on the air within the hour to announce
our action to the world. Finally, the strike itself is completed,

a remarkably successful operation.

The chronology has relied substantially on cables, recordings,
maps, news releases, minutes of relevant meetings, and discussions
with Messrs. McNamara, Vance, Bundy, McNaughton and General
Wheeler.

It must be remembered that much of the action reported is
occurring simultaneously at different levels - the Pentagon, in
CINCPAC Headquarters Honolulu, Tonkin Gulf, the South China
Sea, and the target areas. Most of these locations are in different
time zones, and reports of the action arrive at different intervals.
For ease of reference, however, all of the times, unless other-
wise indicated, are Washington Eastern Daylight Time.
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Saigon time is 12 hours later than EDT. Gulf of Tonkin tREP
time is 11 hours later: the Destroyers in the Gulf of Tonkin kept
Saigon time, while the Carriers there used Golf of Tonkin time
beginning in the later afternoon (EDT) of August 4. CINCPAC
(Honolulu) time is 6 hours earlier than EDT. Thus, for example,

10:00 AM in Washington is 10:00 PM Saigon time and 4:00 AM
Honolulu time.

The various abbreviations used throughout are these:

GINCPAC - Commander-in-Chief,
Admiral Sharp

Pacific -

CINCPACFL.T - Commander-in-Chief,

Pacific Fleet-
Admiral Moore

COMSEVENTHFLT - Commander, Seventh Fleet -
Admiral Johnson

N

OEervec:¥
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TUESDAY

AUGUST 4TH, 1964

7:40 AM (7:40 PM, August 4, Saigon time): The MADDOX
reports that an attack appears imminent from actions taken by

unidentified vessels. The MADDOX, in company with the C. TURNER

JOY, is heading southeast near the center of the Gulf of Tonkin in
international waters approximately 65 miles from the nearest land.
These ships immediately go on the alert. (NMCC receives this
report at about 9:30 AM.)

8:13 AM: First word of a possible attack on the MADDOX
is received at the Pentagon by the DIA Indications Center over the
phone from NSA. While on the phone, a copy of the NSA field \init

message arrives and copies are delivered sometime about 9:00 a.m.

to the Secretary of Defense McNamara, and the Chairman of the
Joint Chiefs of Staff Wheeler. The message states that there are
"imminent plans of DRV naval action possibly against DeSoto
mission" gathered from COMINT.

8:36 AM (8:36 PM, August 4, Saigon time): The MADDOX
establishes its first radar contacts with two unidentified surface
vessels and three unidentified aircraft. U. S. fighter aircraft are
then launched from the USS TICONDEROGA to provide the MADDOX
and the TURNER JOY with protection against possible attacks from
the vinidentified vessels and aircraft, in accordance with the
President's previously issued directives. At this time, the
TICONDEROGA is located approximately 100 nautical miles East
North East of Da Nang. (NMCC receives this report at about
10:30 AM.)

9:08 AM (9:08 PM, August 4, Saigon time): The MADDOX
reports that the xinidentified aircraft have disappeared from its
radar screen but that the surface vessels are still remaining at
a distance. U. S. aircraft from the TICONDEROGA arrive and
commence defensive patrol over the MADDOX and the C. TURNER
JOY. (NMCC receives this report at 11:04 AM.)

COPY LBJ LIBRARY



9:12 AM: McNamara calls the President and tells him
about the NSA/DIA intelligence warning he has just received
that the MADDOX is on the alert again, with the presence of
hostile ships reported.

9:19 AM: Wheeler is now in receipt of several messages,
including the NSA/DIA cable, indicating that the MADDOX may be
under attack. He calls Admiral Grimm, NMCC, and asks whether
Grimm has seen any messages on the attack and whether CINCPAC
will be able to respond effectively. Grimm reports that he has
one message, but has not talked to CINCPAC. Wheeler then says
he will call CINCPAC himself.

9:23 AM:(3:23 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Wheeler
calls General McCutcheon (CINCPAC J-3) and asks whether he
has received any word on an impending attack on the destroyers.
McCutcheon says he has no word, but will immediately check.
Wheeler is insistent that the destroyers "clobber™ the attackers,
and make every effort to destroy the hostile ships, using
additional air support, if required.

***&(

9:25 AM - 11:25 AM
TUESDAY, AUGUST 4
EARLY MEETINGS AT PENTAGON

McNamara, Deputy Secretary Vance, General Burchinal,
Colonel Jones, and Admiral Mustin of the Joint Staff meet at the
Pentagon beginning at 9:25 AM as reports of the attack on the
destroyers come in. As the situation grows more intense, possible
levels and time of retaliation are discussed, and target folders are
examined. High on the list are the PT boats and bases and sup-
porting POL installations, but other targets such as airfields,
industrial complexes and bridges are also scrutinized. Captain
Miller of the Navy, a mine expert, is also asked to join the meeting
and the possibility of mining one or more of the North Vietnamese
important ports is discussed. Here it is pointed out that the mines
would have to be brought to the carriers from Subic Bay, the Philippines.
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McNamara orders that mines be brought to the carriers as
soon as possible. Burchinal informs McNamara that a
retaliatory attack can take place at first light. McNamara,
during this time, calls the President, informs him that a
retaliatory attack is being planned, and tells the President
that he will call Secretary Rusk and Presidential Assistant
Bundy to join him in preparing a number of options to be
presented to the President as soon as possible. *

During these discussions, McNamara develops four
options for a sharp limited blow and one option for continuous
pressure against the North Vietnamese. The four options for
the sharp limited blow are:

Air strikes against PT boats and their bases.
Air strikes against petroleum installations.
Air strikes on bridges.

Air strikes on prestige targets, such as a
steel plant.

Pwde

The option for continuing pressure against the North Vietnamese
is to mine important ports along their coastline.

McNamara, about 11:00 AM, summons Rusk, Bundy,
and the JCS and they arrive shortly thereafter.

Wheeler leaves Washington, D. C. at 10:30 AM to keep
a previously arranged appointment with the New York Times
editorial board for a luncheon and off-the-record discussion.
He arrives in New York at noon, cind ten minutes later is called
by McNamara, who tells him to finish up his business and return
to the Pentagon. Wheeler leaves New York at 3:00 PM, arrives
at the Pentagon at 4:30 PM, and immediately meets with Burchinal.

™ 'r 'r

=f=McNamara made three calls to the President during this period
at 9:43 AM, 10:53 AM and 11:06 AM.
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9:26 AM (9:26 PM, August 4, Saigon time): The carriers
report to CINCPAC stating that pursuant to JCS orders issued
on August 2, they have launched a combat air patrol over the
destroyers, consisting of 2 F-8s, 2 A-3s, and 4 A-lIs.

9:30 AM (9:30 PM, August 4, Saigon time); Additional
vessels are observed on the MADDOX radar screens, and these
vessels begin to close rapidly on the destroyer patrol at speeds
in excess of 40 knots. As the attacking craft continue to close
rapidly from the west and south, the MADDOX evaluates their
intentions as hofeifiie. (NMCC receives this message at 11:20.)

9:32 AM (3:32 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Grimm
(NMCC) contacts the CINCPAC duty officer. Major Rosenbaum.
Grimm reports that the NMCC has just received word from the
MADDOX that a possible attack appears imminent from PT
boats, wants to know if air cover is available, and what has been
done to supply the destroyers with an effective response capability.
Grimm indicates that additional measures, beyond those directly
involving the destroyers, are being considered in Washington.

The duty officer has no information about the situation but adds
that McCutcheon is on his way in. Grimm says that he will arrange
for an open line between CINCPAC ajid Washington, and tells the
CINCPAC representative that this is a "hot one.”

9:52 AM (9:52 PM, August 4, Saigon time): The destroyers
report that they are under continuous torpedo attack and are engaged
in defensive counterfire against North Vietnamese patrol boats.
(NMCC receives this message at 11:39 AM and 11:42 AM).)

10:04 AM(4:04 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): McCutcheon
calls Burchinal, who is then in McNamara's office. Burchinal
tells him that the Pentagon has just received a "flash" that the
destroyers are under attack. McCutcheon replies that he has not
seen it yet, but indicates that the fleet and the Carrier Task Force
have been alerted. The TICONDEROGA, about 15 minutes away
from the destroyers by air, is alerted. Sois the CONSTELLATION,
which had left Hong Kong yesterday and is headed south. Burchinal
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states that the CONSTELLATION will be ordered to move into
position off South Vietnam, in the vicinity of the TICONDEROGA.
He also tells McCutcheon that a possible retaliatory strike is
being considered against North Vietnamese bases and asks him
to take a look at some of the possible targets if, in fact, an
attack is carried out against the destroyers. Burchinal mentions
that McNamara is considering a new set of rules of engagement.

10:15 AM (10:15 PM, August 4, Saigon time): The destroyers
report that they have avoided torpedoes and have sunk one of the
attacking craft. (NMCC receives this at 11:52 AM.)

10:19 AM (4:19 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): McNamara
calls Sharp and asks whether he has seen the messages regarding
a possible attack on the MADDOX. Sharp says he has just arrived
at the CINCPAC Command Center and that the messages are in.
They discuss the "kill" capability of the MADDOX and the TURNER
JOY. McNamara is particularly interested in assuring that the
destroyers have whatever they need in the way of complete support,
air and sea. McNamara tells Sharp to make it "perfectly clear"
to the destroyers that the objective is to "destroy the attacking
craft.” McNamara also indicates that a modification of the r\iles
of engagement is being sent to Sharp. (See 10:33 entry below.)

10:33 AM: A message, personally signed McNamara, is
sent from the JCS to CINCPAC modifying the existing r\iles of
engagement for the destroyers and their supporting aircraft.
Under the old rviles, in event of attack in international waters
(11 miles offshore or more)) U.S. Forces were to destroy the
attackers, but hot pursuit of attacking forces into hostile waters
or airspace was not authorized (JCS Message 7681, August 2,
1964) and the destroyers were to approach the North Vietnamese
coastline no closer than 11 miles. Combat air patrol was
restricted to daylight hours and maintained seaward of the
destroyers so as to preclude axiy possibility of overflying North
Vietnam. (JCS Message 7680, July 2, 1964) Under the new
rules (JCS Message 7700), the closest approach to the North
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Vietnam coastline for the destroyer patrol is 11 nautical miles,

and in the event of a hostile attack, aircraft only are authorized

tb pursue and attack the hostile forces up to the three mile limit

of the North Vietnamese coastline. The message also directed

that the CONSTELLATION be moved into the area off South
Vietnam, with the exact location at the discretion of the commander.
(Note: At 5:19 AM, August 2, the CONSTELLATION was ordered
to slip quietly out of Hong Kong. The CONSTELLATION departed
Hong Kong at 6:01 PM and proceeded south toward the Gulf of
Tonkin.)

10:42 AM (10:42 PM, August 4, Saigon time): The
destroyers report that they have evaded additional torpedoes and
have sunk another of the attacking craft. Other protective aircraft
have arrived overhead, but weather and darkness are hampering
their activities. (NMCC receives this message at 11:37 AM.)

10:52 AM (10:52 PM, August 4, Saigon time): The MADDOX
reports that the destroyers are still under attack. (NMCC receives
this message at 12:24 PM.)

10:55 AM (4:55 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Miller of
Joint Staff calls CINCPAC and directs that mines be placed aboard
the TICONDEROGA.

10:59 AM (4:59 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp calls
Burchinal in McNamara's office, and a discussion of possible
o{>tions for a retaliatory strike ensues. Sharp suggests HON NE,
HON ME, BEN THUY, and QUANG KHE. Burchinal indicates
that a number of options along these and other lines are being
considered. Sharp says that a strike could be carried out --
”All you have to do is say so" -- states that an armed reconnaissance
along the North Vietnamese coast would be advantageous, and points
out that the CONSTELLATION, about 350 miles from the destroyers,
is coming in to provide support. Sharp says, "She could go in there
right now and support them . . . we’ve speeded her up to get her
down there as fast as possible.” There is also talk of providing
the carriers with a mining capability. Burchinal tells Sharp that
McNamara wants him to get a mining capability on the TICONDEROGA

rwi’ jia
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as quickly as possible. Sharp says that it might take about
48 hours to achieve the capability, the problem being to get
the mines aboard the carriers. He also reports that he has

a message indicating that the destroyers are under continuous
torpedo attacks.

11:18 AM (5:18 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp
calls Burchinal and provides him with the latest situation report
on the attack. According to Sharp, the destroyers were exchang-
ing fire with the patrol boats and the MADDOX had dodged at
least five torpedoes. Sharp then suggests that the LOG CHAO
estuary be added to any list of targets since he now has informa-
tion it is being used as a hiding place for the PT boats. When
Sharp mentions the desirability of an armed reconnaissance "
first light" along the coastline, Burchinal makes it absolutely
clear that McNamara is seriously considering more severe
action. He also indicates that there is a desire to act "at the first
light background. " He tells Sharp that Secretary of State Rusk is
on his way to the Pentagon, and that meetings will be held later
at the White House. Sharp reiterates that it will take about 48
hours to attain a mining capability.

at

11:30 AM (11:30 PM, August 4, Saigon time): The
CONSTELILATION receives a preliminary alerting message stating
that for planning purposes "there is a strong possibility you will
be directed on short notice to lay on armed reconnaissance at
sea against Swatows or reprisal attack against Swatow bases such
as QUANG KHE, BEN THUY or PHUG LOI. ™ At this time, the
CONSTELLATION is heading in a south southwest direction to
join the TICONDEROGA.

TOP
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11:20 AM - 12:30 PM
TUESDAY, AUGUST 4
JCS MEET

BUNDY AND RUSK ARRIVE AT PENTAGON

11:20 AM; At McNamara's call, the JCS meet in McNamara's
dining room with Vance and McNamara. Present are Acting
Chairman LeMay, Admiral McDonald, General Johnson, General
Greene, General Goodpaster, Burchinal, Mustin and Joint Staff
assistants. McNamara informs the JCS that he has called the
President and that he is interested in a quick capability to respond.

11:38 AM: Rusk and Greerrt (Deputy Assistant Secretary of
State, Far Eastern Affairs) arrive at the JCS meeting. At McNamara’s
direction, Burchinal briefs Rusk.

11:40 AM: Bxmdy arrives at JCS meeting. McNamara
briefs B\indy. McNamara describes the five options listed on page 5
above. McNamara informs the group that he has issued orders
to have mines moved from Subic Bay into Da Nang. There is a
discussion of retaliatory measures. McNamara and Bundy discuss
the advantages and disadvantages of a sharp limited blow such as
air strikes and/or the continuing pressure of mining the North
Vietnamese coast. McNamara tells LeMay that the JCS should work
up recommendations for immediate action, then recommended actions
for 24, 48 and 60 hours ahead, with special emphasis on reinforce-
ments, such as the movement of B-57s into South Vietnam and fighter-
interceptors into the Philippines.

12:04 PM; McNamara, Rusk, Bundy, Greeny (State Dept.)
and Vance move to McNamara's office, while the JCS continue
meeting in McNamara's dining room. At this meeting the options
are essentially refined to three:

1. Sharp limited strikes against such targets as PT
boats, PT bases, oil depots, etc.

2. Continmng pressure, i.e., mining the Vietnam coast.
3. A combination of both.

T 3P
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12:20 PM: McNamara, Rusk, Bundy and Greene depart
for White House. Vance goes into McNamara's dining room to
ask JCS if it would make any difference whether the retaliatory
strikes were conducted at first light. JCS tell Vance that the time
of attack would make no difference from a military standpoint but
that fewer people would be at the PT boat bases and supporting
installations at first light.

12:25 PM: Vance departs for the White House. The JCS
continue meeting until 1:49 PM. During their meeting, at JCS
direction, Burchinal calls McNamara at White House to recom -
mend the sharp limited response option.

12:40 - 3:00 PM
NATIONAL SECURITY COUNCIL MEETING
LUNCH WITH THE PRESIDENT

A regularly scheduled National Security Council Meeting
centering on the Cyprus situation is in progress when McNamara,
Rusk, and Bundy arrive at the White House. McNamara briefs the
participants*, including the President, on the available details of
the attack on the destroyers. Rusk indicates that he, McNamara,
and the JCS are developing a set of options, but that they are not
siafficiently refined for presentation at that time.

At a lunch, which began about 1:04 PM and ended about
2:50 PM, following the NSC meeting, the types of response and the
targets are key topics. Rusk, McNamara, McCone, Bundy, and
Vance are with the President at lunch.

"Present are Robert Kennedy, McCone, McDermott, Ball, Talbot,

Dillon, Rowan, Reedy, Valenti, Clifton, Bromley Smith, and Komer.

£f.seKC"In
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The President agrees that a firm, swift retaliatory strike must
be carried out. Herd, a general consensus is formed on the
approach finally taken in the JCS message to CINCPAC, developed
later that afternoon, ordering the strikes into execution against
the PT boats located at bases PORT WALLUT, HON GAY, PHUC
LOI and QUANG KHE and LOG GHAO estuary and the oil depot at
VINH. (See the 5:19 PM entry below.) The mining option, as
well as an attack on HAIPHONG, is; rejected. The President
asks how long it would take to execute the strike. McNamara
estimates from the advice he has received that a strike coiild be
lavinched at about 7:00 PM, (7:00 AM, Saigon time). The President
suggests that McNamara call the JGS to confirm the time, but
McNamara says he wants to work it out carefully with the JGS on
his return to the Pentagon.

12:22 PM Sharp calls Burchinal and gives him the latest
situation report on the torpedo firings at the destroyers. Estimates
are that 3to 6 PT Boats are engaged, with two reported siink, no
enemy aircraft are reported in the area, and aircraft (10 A-Is,

2 F-8s) from the GONSTELLATION are on station over the
destroyers. Sharp asks that the destroyers be given permission

to pursue PT Boats to the three-mile limit, and that aircraft be
permitted to engage in hot pursuit over North Vietnamese territory.
Burchinal advises him that the rules of engagement are being
considered by McNamara and the JGS. Burchinal advises Sharp

to dig out target material on PHOC LOI, QUANG KHE, and the
VINH oil complex.

12:32 PM (12:32 AM Saigon time, August 5): The destroyers
report that at least two enemy craft have been sxink, but that low

ceilings continue to hamper the aircraft operations. (NMGG receives

this report about 1 1/2 to 2 hours later.)

12:54 PM (12:54 AM Saigon time, August 5): In addition to
the torpedo attack, the TURNER JOY reports that during the
engagement she was fired upon by automatic weapons while being
illuminated by searchlights. (NMGG receives this report about
11/2 to 2 hours later.)
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12:57 PM (6:57 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): CINCPAC
sends message to JCS recommending that authority be granted
to conduct punitive U. S. air strikes as soon as possible against
BEN THUY, HON ME, QUANG KHE, and LOG GHAO. (NMGG
receives this message at 1:27 PM.)

1:01 PM (7:01 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp
calls Burchinal and reports two jet aircraft have been sighted
flying out of HAINAN as far south as DA NANG. Sharp says
that we cannot afford to permit hostile aircraft to fly over carriers.
Sharp then quotes proposed message on rules of engagement for
aircraft which would grant authority to declare hostile and engage
any North Vietnamese/ChiCom aircraft whose actions show
within a "reasonable certainty"” that an attack on U. S. forces
is intended. Burchinal agrees that the message should be sent
if needed for the security of CINCPAC Forces, will note Sharp's
comments for the JCS, and tells Sharp that a meeting is now
going on at the White House.

1:03 PM: Bob Hayes at the White House Situation Room
calls Col. Nickols at Pentagon Command Center and advises that
the NSC meeting has just broken up. McNamara, McCone, Rusk,
Bxindy, and Vance have now gone to Ixinch with the President.
Situation Room wants to be sure that the latest reports from the
destroyers are forwarded at once.

1:24 PM: McNamara, still at White House, calls Burchinal
at Pentagon. Burchinal tells him that Sharp had reported the

presence of hostile aircraft (probably IL«-28's) flying out of HAINAN

and was issuing a "to engage"” order if the security of his forces

was threatened by enemy air (see the 1:01 entry above). McNamara

is insistent that faster situation reports be obtained from the
MADDOX and asks that Sharp try to contact the destroyer by radio.
Burchinal advises that the JCS have selected the option involving
air strikes against PHUG LOI, QUANG KHE, LOG GHAO, and

the VINH-PHUC LOI oil complex.
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1;27 PM (1:27 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The Destroyer
Division Commander on the MADDOX sends a "Flash” message to
CINCPACFLT, with JCS on the information list. The "Flash"
states that a review of the action makes many reported contacts

and torpedoes fired "appear doubtful”. "Freak weather effects”
on radar, and "over-eager" sonarmen may have accoxinted for
many reports. "No visual sightings" have been reported by the

MADDOX, and the Commander suggests that a "complete evaluation
be undertaken before any further action. (NMCC receives this
report about 1 1/2 to 2 hours later.) (Note: Sharp repeats the
substance of this message to Burchinal. See the 1:59 PM and

2:08 PM entries below.)

1:28 PM (7:28 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Following up
McNamara's request, Burchinal calls Sharp and asks for a status
report on the engagement. Sharp reports that two PT Boats have
been sxink but is uncertain as to the total nximber involved and says
that some 13 torpedoes have been launched. Also, he reports that
there is some indication of enemy aircraft in the area but says that
aircraft from both the TICONDEROGA and CONSTELLATION are
on the scene. Burchinal asks Sharp to obtain a direct radio report
from the ships engaged.

1:30 PM (1:30 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The destroyers
report that the attacking craft had apparently broken off the
engagement. The MADDOX and TURNER JOY are directed to
resimie their patrol in the Gulf of Tonkin at daylight on the 5th of
August. (NMCC receives this message about 1 1/2 to 2 hours later.)

1:59 PM (7:59 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp calls
Burchinal and says that he cannot contact ships by voice radio,
but tells him that he has sent message requesting that situation
reports be expedited. As for the commiinication link between
CINCPAC and the destroyers. Sharp says that "our Flash messages
have choked up the circmt. | have just told everybody to knock off
using FLASH." Sharp says that the last message from the ships
reports that freak weather is affecting radar performance, with
many contacts and torpedo runs doubtful. Sharp says that the
MADDOX itself has reported no visual sightings, and over-anxious
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sonarmen may have accoimted for what they erroneously thought
to be torpedoes.

2;08 PM (8:08 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp advises
Burchinal that the latest situation report indicates that three PT
boats have been siink, and that the weather is deteriorating and
hampering aircraft operations. Sharp expresses the view that
there is no doubt that a torpedo attack did occur, but adds that many
of the reported torpedo attacks may have been due to inaccurate
sonar reports. "Whenever they get keyed up on a thing like this,
everything they hear on the sonar is a torpedo, " says Sharp.

A

3:00 PM - 5:15 PM
TUESDAY, AUGUST 4
MEETINGS AT THE PENTAGON
THE STRIKE EXECUTE MESSAGE IS DRAFTED

At'the Pentagon, the Joint Chiefs begin their meeting at
3:00 PM*. McNamara and Vance arrive at 3:06 PM and inform
the Chiefs that the President wants the strikes to take place at
7:00 PM Washington time, if possible, and at the following targets:
PT boats and bases at QUANG KHE, PHOC LOI, PORT WALLUT,
HON GAY and LOG CHAO, and the oil complex at VINH. The
JCS agree with this proposal. At about 3:25 PM, Burchinal alerts
Sharp by phone and gives him the targets to be attacked and the
time of attack. At 4:42 PM, McNamara and Vance return to the
JCS meeting. McNamara states that the time of the strike is
important, for there will be no announcement iintil the strike
gets under way. McNamara reviews the strike message which
originally reads "By 0700 local time 5 August or as soon thereafter
as weather permits conduct attack™ and changes it to "By 0700
local 5 August conduct a one-time maximum effort attack",

* Throughout the afternoon, Wheeler, LeMay, McDonald, Johnson,
Greene, Burchinal, Goodpaster, Mustin, General Carroll
and Service and Joint Staff assistants are present at various
intervals.

QE£€ifw jjj

COPY LBJ LIBRARY



G C’

T ep occriEIT
16

and that "if weather precludes meeting the above time of attack,
proceed soonest, and notify JCS ASAP." (The major part of the
message is quoted in the 5:19 PM entry below.) Also during the
meeting, the deployment and alerting of reinforcements to the
area is considered, telling proof of our desire to escalate if

we had to.~/These are divided into three categories. In the First
category are those forces ordered deployed as soon as possible.
They consist of the 1st CVS Group (the Kearsage, 4 destroyers,
and 3 destroyer escorts) which wolild be moved from Japan to the
South China Sea; a Marine Special Landing Force (1600 men, 24
helicopters, the Valley Forge and supporting Craft) to be moved
from Subic Bay to the vicinity of Da Nang; the 9th Marine Ex-
peditionary Brigade, consisting of 6500 men to be moved from
Okinawa to the South China Sea; an F-101 Reconnaissance Task
Force to be moved from Shaw AFB to Kadena and a CVA Task
Group, consisting of the Ranger and 4 destroyers to be moved
from the 1st Fleet to WESTPAC.

The Second category are those forces alerted for deployment
immediately upon the receipt of political clearance. These will
consist of 2 B-57 sqviadrons, to be moved from Clark AFB to
South Vietnam; 1 F-105 squadron to be moved from Xokota to
Korat; 1 F-IOO squadron to be moved from Clark AFB to Takhli;

12 F-102s to be moved from Clark AFB to South Vietnam;

8 KC-135s to be moved from SAC to Clark AFB; 2P-100 squadrons
from STRICOM to Clark; 1 F-105 squadron from STRICOM to
Yokota; and 1 Reconnaissance Task Force (6 RF-101s) from
Misawa/Kadena to Southeast Asia.

The Third category consists of those forces alerted for
possible deployment to Southeast Asia. These are the 173rd
Airborne Brigade, a Forward Floating Depot, a Marine Air Group,
and an Army Brigade.

3:30 PM (9:30 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Mustin of
the Joint Staff calls Sharp and tells him to be on the alert since a
strike execute message is being prepared and would be transmitted

as soon as released.
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3:34 PM: Mustin calls General Smith, Deputy Director
for Operations, Joint Staff, and informs him that the JCS are in
session, that a strike execute message is now being typed for
final review by the JCS and that Sharp knows it is coming.
Mustin asks that the line be held open for an immediate trans-
mission of the strike execute message to Sharp.

4:08 PM (10:08 AM, August 4, CINCPAG time): McNamara
calls Sharp and asks for the latest information on the destroyer
attack. Sharp responds by saying that although he has just received
a sum-up situation report from Destroyer Task Force Gommander
Moore it "indicates a little doubt on just exactly what went on. "
McNamara wants to know if there is a possibility that no attack
occurred, and Sharp replies, "Yes, | would say that there is a
slight possibility. ™ Sharp says he is going to ask Moore to get

a definite report which "should come in within an hour. "™ McNamara
sums up the situation by stating that "We've got problems on timing
here . . . we don't want to release news of what happened without

saying what we are going to do; we don't want to say what we are
going to do before we do it. " Sharp recommends that any execute
notice be held until "we have a definite indication that this happened. "

McNamara then observes that the execute is scheduled
"for 7 p. m. our time which is three hours from now. " Sharp
says this is right, it is being set for "7 o'clock local out there.
McNamara says that even if definite confirmation of the attack
is not forthcoming for another 2 hours, an hour would still remain
and the execute order could then be issued. McNamara states:
"It seems to me we ought to go ahead on that basis; get the pilots
briefed, get the planes armed, get everything ready to go. "
Sharp agrees.

4:14 PM (4:14 AM, August 5, Saigon time; 10:14 AM,
August 4, GINGPAG time): GINGPAGFLIT trajismits an alert
message to GOMSEVENTHFLT, the TIGONDEROGA and the
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CONSTELLATION to be prepared "at 0700G" to strike targets
{8:00 PM Washington time; 7:00 AM Saigon time). (See entries

at 5:23 PM, 5:29 PM, and 5:33 PM, August 4) The designated
targets are the PT Boat bases at QUANG KHE, BEN THUY,

HON NE Island and SONG MA estuary, HON GAY and PORT
WALLUT; any identified North Vietnamese PT Boats located

at sea; and the VINH petroleum storage depot. The latter is
labeled the number one target priority. The message indicates
that it would be "desirable” that all targets be struck simultaneously,
but adds that authority is granted to recycle aircraft as necessary
to strike the two southern targets (QUANG KHE and BEN THUY)
with a second launch if the Forces on the TICONDEROGA aaxd
CONSTELLATION are inadequate. It concludes by specifying
that this is a preparatory order, and that lavinching should not

be accomplished lontil an execute order is received. (TICONDEROGA

receives this message at 4:55 PM .)

4:35 PM (4:35 AM, August 5, Saigon time; 10:35 AM,
August 4, CINCPAC time): CINCPAC transmits an official
alert message to CINCPACFLT to prepare to execute air strikes
with a "high level damage expectancy" at 7:00 PM (7:00 AM local
time), against (1) PORT WALLUT, (2) BEN THUY (VINH),
(3) HON GAY, (4) QUANG KHE, and (5) LOG CHAO. "Conventional
ordnance only" is specified. The message specified that the
Vinh POL shotild be struck with a "very high level of expected
damage."

4:40 PM (10:40 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp
calls Burchinal and is informed that the JCS strike execute message
is in the McNamara office ready to go, but that there is still a
slight doubt whether the destroyers were in fact attacked. Sharp
will try to get more definite information from Admiral Moore, but
states that he has now seen reports of visual sightings of cockpit
lights pursuing near the MADDOX and another report of the
destroyers being illuminated and fired against. Burchinal then
asks Sharp whether he continues to believe the latmch could be
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accomplished at 7:00 PM. Sharp responds that "it will be

tight, " but "I think so." He adds, however, that "it may be

just as well to wait an hour or so, if we have to, to be certain”

an attack had occurred. Sharp then suggests it might be necessary
to recycle some of the aircraft for a second strike against VINH
and Burchinal says "this will be all right,” if needed. Sharp
estimates that about 70 aircraft in all will be involved in the
strikes,

4:49'PM (10:49 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): The JCS
strike execute message to CINCPAC is transmitted by direct
teletype from the NMCC to the CINCPAC Command Center.
(CINCPAC receives this message at 5:28 PM (11:28 AM, August 4,
CINCPAC time).)

4:55 PM (4:55 AM, August 5, Saigon time); TICONDEROGA
receives the CINCPACFLT alert message directing COMSEVENTHFLT

to be prepared at 7:00 PM to strike the PT boats at designated locations.

The TICONDEROGA is already on an alert status as a resvilt of the
PT boat attacks on the destroyers. Upon receipt of this alert message,
its pilots and Weapons Planning Board commence to plan for the
strikes. A message is also sent from TICONDEROGA to Naval Air
Station at Cubi Point, Philippines (some 500 miles away), directing
all ready-to-go A-1 and A-4 aircraft to return to the TICONDEROGA
as soon as possible. This is necessary because the complement

of aircraft on the TICONDEROGA has to be augmented by additional
strike aircraft for the maximum strike effort. A number of the
aircraft on the TICONDEROGA had been used previously for
reconnaissance (Yankee Team) efforts over Laos, and could not
appropriately be used for the strike.

5:00 PM: Colonel Jones of the Joint Staff, in the JCS conference
room, calls the NMCC Pacific desk at Pentagon (Commander
Hathaway) and says that the JCS would like a forecast of the weather
over the target area at 7:00 AM local time.

T
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4:47 PM - 6:00 PM
TUESDAY, AUGUST 4
JCS-SECDEF MEETING TO DETERMINE IF ATTACK
ON DESTROYERS OCCURRED

4:47 PM: McNamara, Vance and the JCS meet to marshal
the evidence to overcome lack of a clear and convincing showing
that an attack on the destroyers had in fact occurred. They
conclude that an attack had taken place. |In this regard five
factors are considered:

1. The TURNER JOY was illuminated when fired on by
automatic weapons.

2. One of the destroyers observed cockpit lights.

3. A PGM 142 shot at two U. S. aircraft. (From COMINT)

4. A North Vietnamese announcement that two of its boats
were "sacrificed. " {From COMINT)

5. Sharp's determination that there was indeed an attack.

Burchinal, at Wheeler's request, tells McNamara that the
7:00 PM strike time will not be met because the carriers are operating
on a time which makes 8:00 PM Washington time 7:00 AM carrier

time.

5:19 PM: JCS strike execute message is retransmitted FLASH
precedence as JCS 7720 to CINCPAC. It states that by 7:00 PM EDT
(0700 local time) a one-time maximum effort attack against PORT
WALLUT (later cancelled because of weather), HON GAY, PHUC LOl,
QUANG KHE, LOC CHAO and VINH, and an armed reconnaissance
against PT boats beyond the three mile limit should be conducted.

The message cautions that if the weather precludes meeting the above
time of attack, the commander is to "proceed soonest" and to notify
the JCS as soon as possible. (CINCPAC receives this message at

5:52 PM (11:52 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time).)
5:23 PM (11:23 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp calls

Burchinal and says there is no doubt that an attack on the destroyers
had occurred, for he has intercepted a North Vietnamese
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message stating that two of its PT boats were "sacrificed. "
Sharp is now satisfied with all the evidence, what with several
additional reports from the TURNER JOY. Sharp mentions then
that the attack will be "coming off" at 8:00 PM Washington time
not 7:00 PM but still at 7:00 AM local time. The reason is that
the CINCPAC execute message used "HOTEL" time (Saigon time,
a 12 hour difference from EDT), whereas the carriers (based on
a CINCPACFLT message) were shooting for the operation on
"GOLF" time (an 11 hour difference from EDT), giving them an
extra hour. Sharp says that he will convert his strike message
to "GOLF" time.

5:29 PM: Mustin calls the NMCC (General Smith) and
indicates that some confusion exists over the time in the Gulf of
Tonkin. He asks Smith to get on the teletype and straighten out
the matter.

5:33 PM (11:23 AM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Smith calls
McCutcheon at CINCPAC and asks for a breakdown of the times bet-
ween the carriers, Saigon, and Washington. McCutcheon replies
that when the Washington time is 8:00 PM, the local time (GOLF
time) for the carriers would be 7:00 AM the next morning. When
the Washington time is 7:00 PM, the local time in Saigon would
be 7:00 AM the next morning. McCutcheon reports that Sharp,
realizing that the carriers can use that extra hour, has told them
to use GOLF time, so that 7:00 AM for the carriers would be
8:00 PM in Washington.

5:39 PM (1:39 PM, CINCPAC time): Sharp calls Burchinal
and says that his understajiding is that launch time will be 7:00 AM,
August 5 (carrier time), or 8:00 PM, August 4, Washington time.

5:51 PM: McNamara, Vance, and Wheeler leave the meeting
for the White House.

6:10 PM (6:10 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The TICONDEROGA

receives a copy of the JCS strike execute message.

6:27 PM (6:27 AM, August 5, Saigon time): CINCPAC transmits

strike execute message to CINCPACFLT. (See 4:35 PM entry,
August 4.)

fo* 6
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6;15 PM - 6:38 PM
TUESDAY, AUGUST 4
NATIONAL SECURITY COUNCIL MEETING
6:38 PM - 6:45 PM
SPECIAL MEETING WITH THE PRESIDENT

The National Security Council* is convened as McNamara,
Vance and Wheeler arrive at the White House. McNamara outlines
the four-part plan:

1. The strike against the PT boat bases and the supporting
installations and armed reconnaissance along the North
Vietnamese coast.

2. Sending reinforcements to the area, an expression of
our will to escalate.

3. Presidential annoiancement of these actions.

4. A Joint Congressional Resolution in support of these
actions and further actions, if necessary.

The President asks the NSC members if they have any objection to
the plan. AIll NSC members approve the plan. The President then
approves the plan. McNamara informs the President that the
previously estimated 7:00 PM launch time will not be met, but
that the laxonch time is now estimated to be 8:00 PM. McNamara
then recommends that no public statement be released until

9:00 PM, the estimated time over target of the first strike.

The NSC meeting breaks up at 6:38. McNamara, Rusk, and
Biindy meet with the President in his office, prior to the Congressional
leadership meeting which starts at 6:45. Vance returns to Pentagon
and meets with Burchinal to determine what reinforcements can be
moved without political clearance from other countries and to put
in motion the political clearance process where regmred. Vance
authorizes the movement of units not requiring political clearance.

fi *

Present at this meeting are the President, Speaker McCormack,
McCone, Cline, McNaughton, Rusk, Ball, William Bundy, Dillon,
Rowan, Reedy, McG. Bundy, Jenkins, Moyers, Valenti, Bromley
Smith and Cater.
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6:07 PM (12:07 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp

calls Burchinal and repeats that he is satisfied thatthe destroyers
were attacked. Sharp now has the JCS strike execute message.
Burchinal says that McNamara, now at the White House, is

also satisfied that the attacks on the destroyers have occurred and
had made the statement just a short time ago that the "show is now
on the road.” After agreeing that suppressive fire "was part of
the game, " Sharp then states that the press shoxild not get the
story at 7:00 PM. Burchinal replies that "we will insure that
nothing comes out until we know that you're off target.” Sharp
estimates this to be 9:00 PM, one hour after launch. Burchinal
emphasizes that any announcement will be delayed so that there

is "no possibility of anyone reading” the strike. The matter of
deploying additional forces to the theater is also discussed.

'S

6:45 PM - 8:45 PM
TUESDAY, AUGUST 4
CONGRESSIONAL LEADERSHIP MEETING

General Wheeler was one of those in attendance at the
leadership meeting. In his recent testimony before the House
Armed Services Committee, Wheeler stated that the President
told the Congressmen that he wovild make a public announcement
but left the time "up in the air because he did not want to make
the annoiincement too soon.” Wheeler then recalled that the
timing of the announcement may have actually been settled either
in a preliminary meeting between McNamara and the President
(aroiind 6:38 PM) or at the leadership meeting itself. 1In any
event, Wheeler said that the decision was made that a statement
covild be released ”at the time the aircraft took off from carriers,
in other words when the strikes were enroute.” Chairman
Vinson said he would verify this because "l sat there and | heard
the whole discussion.” In short, Wheeler remembered that the
President ”"was going to wait until it was safe to make the
announcement . . . it woiald not be made prior to the launching
of the aircraft.” McNamara's recollection is the same as General
W heeler’s.
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6:56 PM (6:56 AM, Augusts, Saigon time): The
CONSTELLATION receives a copy of the JCS strike execute
message.

7:22 PM (7:22 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The TICONDEROGA
receives the CINCPACFLT execute message.

7:30 PM (7:30 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The
CONSTELLATION receives the CINCPAC message which passes
the JCS strike message with instructions not to execute until
directed. (Note: According to Mustin, the "hold” notice was
presumably prompted by CINCPAC’s desire to make certain that
the second attack on the MADDOX did in fact occur. Once this
was confirmed the strike execute message was issued (see the
7:50 PM entry below).)

7:49 PM (7:49 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The CONSTELLATION
receives its target assignments.

7:50 PM (7:50 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The
CONSTELLATION receives the CINCPAC strike execute message.

7:59 PM (1:59 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): General
Wisman, NMCC Pacific Desk at Pentagon, calls the CINCPAC Duty
Officer, Lt. Colonel Lindsey, and asks for the take-off times,
niombers and types of planes in the carrier strike. Lindsey replies
there is nothing yet on the strikes, although there is some combat
air pktrol activity in relation to the earlier attacks on the
destroyers.

8:05 PM: Wheeler, in the Cabinet room at the White House,
calls Burchinal at the Pentagon and asks if anything is happening.
Burchinal says that he has a clear line open, but no word has been
received. Wheeler wants to know as soon as the word arrives that
the aircraft have been launched.

8:39 PM (2:39 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): McNamara,
back from the White House, calls Sharp and asks whether the
carriers have launched their aircraft. Sharp replies that he has
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received no word yet, but this probably because the carriers
will provide a coordinated report when the launch is completed.
McNamara, however, says that the launch is already 40 minutes
after the ordered time of take-off and wants Sharp to contact the
carriers directly by radio. McNamara then states; "Let's get
an immediate statement from them if we can. Part of the problem
here is just hanging on this news, you see. The President has to
make a statement to the people and I am holding him back from
making it, but we're forty minutes past the time I told him we
would launch. ™ Sharp estimates, although he does not have the
launch plan, that it would take the aircraft about an hour to reach
the target. McNamara asks Sharp to find out when they are
launching and the time of the first flights over the targets.

9:00 PM (9:00 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The situation
at this time and thereafter as reflected on North Vietnamese and
[radar is described at Appendix A.

9:09 PM (3:09 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp calls
McNamara at his office and says that one carrier (perhaps both)
would not be able to lavinch for another 50 minutes (10:00 PM
Washington time). "In other words, they couldn't make the time,
reports Sharp. Sharp explains that the compression of time and
the communications lag are the reasons, and thinks that the last
estimated times over target, with a 10:00 PM launch will be
about 12:00 midnight, Washington time. McNamara then asks
what Sharp thinks about a Presidential statement issued about the
time of launch that would say this: "At this moment air action
is now in execution against gun boats and supporting facilities
in and near four ports of North Vietnam which have been used
in support of hostile operations. ™ Sharp thinks it would not be a
"good idea" because it will alert the enemy, "No doubt about it. "
McNamara says that the enemy would be alerted as soon as the
aircraft start coming into the coast. Sharp says, "They won't
know where they're going. Of course they will be alerted as
soon as they get in the air because Hainan is going to pick them
up and so will the other people. But they won't know where they
are going, | wouldn't recommend it. "
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9:22 PM (3:22 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp tells
McNamara that PT boats (presumably those returning from attack
on the destroyers) were taking sanctuary within the three-mile
limit. McNamara recommends that the aircraft proceed to hit
designated targets, but authorizes striking any boats sighted on
the way in. He says, "Get them off . . . That is the main thing. "

9:28 PM (9:28 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The CONSTEL-
LATION submits its strike plan for approval to the Carrier Task
Force Commander.

10:00 - 10:30 PM: During this period, McNamara calls Bundy
to discuss the Presidential announcement. As a result of his earlier
conversation with Sharp, McNamara recommends that Bundy delete
the entire sentence which reads: "At this moment air action is now in
execution against gun boats and supporting facilities in and near 4
ports in North Vietnam which have been used in support of hostile
operations. " Bundy disagrees and tries to work out some language
changes that will meet McNamara's point about giving away the targets.
Bundy secures McNamara's agreement to the following language, which
appears in the President's statement as given over the air at 11:40 PM:
"Air action is now in execution against gun boats and certain supporting
facilities in North Vietnam which have been used in these hostile opera-
tions. " Thus, the words "in and near 4 ports” were deleted, with the
rest of the sentence allowed to remain substantially in tact.

10:06 PM: After trying to reach Senator Goldwater for several
hours, the President finally gets through and informs him of the
decision to retaliate.

10:26 PM (4:26 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): McNamara calls
Sharp and asks whether the aircraft are launched yet. Sharp says he
has no firm word, but is "sure” one carrier (TICONDEROGA) "is going
to go, or has gone" at 10:00 PM Washington time. According to Sharp,
however, the other carrier (CONSTELLATION) "is not going to launch"
one of its groups (the slower propeller driven A-1 aircraft) until 1:00 PM
Washington time, axid the other (the jets) until 2:30 AM, with a time over

target for both groups estimated around 3:15 AM, apparently because "she

is not able to get in position in time. " Sharp explains this by stating
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that the CONSTELLATION was coming from the north and had to
get into position by coming aroiind Hainan to strike her assigned
northern targets. |In order to get into position, "she had to use a
good many of her aircraft for refuelers. " Sharp repeats that the
TICONDEROGA "should have gotten off a half hour ago (10:00 PM)
but "we haven't heard yet. " McNamara tells Sharp to make "damn
sure she got off" by getting in touch with her right away. As to

the CONSTELLATION, McNamara asks how long it would take its
aircraft to reach the target. Sharp replies the fartherest target
.will be reached in about five hours from now. McNamara then says
that no announcement here "is going to influence what they think
about those aircraft coming in because you will already have launched
about a half hour ago against the other targets. " Sharp agrees "as
long as they don't know what the targets are. " McNamara states
that "I have cut that out of the statement, " and Sharp says "there
will still be the “ement of surprise ... as long as you don't say
what /the targets/ are. "

10:40 PM (10:40 AM, August 5, Saigon time); CONSTELLATION
recovers the last group of A-1 aircraft from combat air patrol over
the destroyers.

10:43 PM (10:43 AM, August 5, Saigon time): TICONDEROGA
launches four A-1 strike aircraft with instructions to orbit overhead.
This is necessary so that the carrier deck could be free from the
landing of A-4 aircraft from Cubi Point then orbiting overhead and
to permit coordination of prop and jet strikes to ensure a simultaneous
arrival time over the target. The A-1 launching marks the beginning
of the attack, and within the hour these four A-I's depart for VINH.
(NMCC receives this message at 12:36 AM, August 5)

10:46 PM (4:46 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): McNamara
calls Sharp again, seeking confirmation of the launch times. Sharp
says that he has been trying to reach the Task Force but "it is just
a question of getting through this circuit and apparently the circuit
is a little jammed. " He reports that no word has yet been received,
and McNamara suggests he radio in the clear, asking the TICON-
DEROGA if it did "what it said it would do at 10:00. ™ McNamara
states that the President wants to go on the air at 11:15, but should
not go on "unless he has a confirmation of the laxinch.” McNamara
then wants Sharp to secure half-hourly post-strike reports, once
the launching occurs.
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10:48 PM: Clifton at the White House calls General Wismain,
the Deputy Director for Operations, Joint Staff and states that new
launch times for the CONSTELLATION have been received which are
considerably later than the TICONDEROGA's, that the President is
shooting for am 11:15 PM statement, and asks how much would be
revealed by the announcement. Wisman states that Sharp agrees
with a Presidential announcement now that McNamara has recom -
mended the deletion of specific portions dealing with the targets.

10:56 PM: The UPI ticker reports from Balboa, California,
that Goldwat6ér had spoken to the President and that "President
Johnson read his statement on the tense situation in Vietnam to
Senator Barry M. Goldwater, the Republican Presidential candidate.
Goldwater expressed approval of the President's statement. "

10:59 PM: The UPI ticker, in amplifying the prior story,

quotes Goldwater from Balboa, California, as stating this: "I am
sure that every American will subscribe to the actions outlined in
the President's statement. | believe it is the only thing we can do

under the circumstances. We cannot allow the American flag to
be shot at anywhere on earth if we are to retain our respect and
prestige. "

11:05 PM: Wisman calls Burchinal and reports that nothing
is airborne yet, that the CONSTELLATION is not in position, and
that several more hours would be required for its first launch.
There is now the possibility, according to Wisman, that the
CONSTELLATION because of weather may have to scrub its
operation. He recognizes this would tip our hand if one force
goes in, and says that there can be no scrubbing of the mission
until the Secretary of Defense and the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs
are first notified.

11:11 PM: McNamara calls Sharp, and is told "it is just that
I don't think that there is any question that they have launched. It
is just a question of getting the report. ™ McNamara, with regard
to the weather conditions and possible cancellation of the CONSTEL-
LATION strikes, states "As a nation we just can't sit here and let
them attack us on the high seas and not do something . . . So I think
the President has to say we are going to retaliate. ™ McNamara
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asks if there is "any reason why the CONSTELLATION couldn't
laianch against the southern targets, including the oil depot.” Sharp
responds that this is "exactly what we would do, " although he
mentions that the weather to the south is not good and beginning

to deteriorate.

11:20 PM (5:20 PM, August 4, CINCFAC ttme): Sharp calls _
McNamara and says it is now confirmed. "AShe Ahe TICONDEROGA/
got her planes off at 0243" (Zulu time) (10:43 PM, Washington time;
10:43 AM, Saigon time). Sharp indicates that it will take the aircraft
about an hour and fifty minutes from now to reach their targets. The
attack will be in two waves, both scheduled to arrive at the same time.

11:27 PM: After discussion of the matter with General Wheeler,
McNamara calls the President and tells him that it is now appropriate
to make his statement over radio and TV. Commander Henson of the
NMCC Pacific Desk at the Pentagon notifies the White House Situation
Room that the TICONDEROGA launched its first aircraft at 10:43 PM,
with an estimated time over the target at 1:10 AM.

11:35 PM (11:35 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The CONSTEL-
LATION advises the Carrier Task Force Commander of its intended
launch position for strikes with a simultaneous time over target at
3:45 AM.

11:36 PM
TUESDAY, AUGUST 4
PRESIDENT GOES ON THE AIR

The President goes on radio and TV at 11:36 PM and states
at 11:40 PM:

"Repeated acts of violence against the armed forces of
the United States must be met not only with alert defense, but with
positive reply. That reply is being given as | speak to you. Air
action is now in execution against gun boats and certain supporting
facilities in North Vietnam which have been used in these hostile
operations. "
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The decision to go on the air is based on these considerations;

1. U. S. Naval aircraft had been in the air approximately one
hour.
2. Hanoi and Hainan, through their radar, had then received

indications of the attack.

3. The time remaining before the aircraft arrived over the targets
would probably not permit the North Vietnamese to move their
boats to sea or to alert their forces.

4. It was important that our people learn of the maxiner in which
their government was responding to the attacks on its vessels
from their President, rather than from Hanoi, which was
expected to announce the attack at any moment.

5. It was desirable that the North Vietnamese government aind
others be told as soon as possible the limited, punitive
character of the attack.

6. It was important that the North Vietnamese and Chinese
Communists know that this was the firm and deliberate
response of the U. S. Government to an unprovoked
aggressive act, and not the act of a local commander.

11:51 PM (11:51 AM, August 5, Saigon time): Sharp calls
Wheeler and they discuss the possibilities of a restrike against
VINH, with Wheeler saying that he will take it up with McNamara.

11:54 PM (11:54 AM, August 5, Saigon time): The
CONSTELLATION receives a message that TICONDEROGA had
launched its aircraft at 10:43 PM, with scheduled arrival over
target at 1:10 AM.
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WEDNESDAY

AUGUST 5, 1964

12:00 Midnight (Noon, August 5, Saigon time): Wheeler calls
Sharp to discuss the recycling of the VINH strike. Sharp indicates
that the recycling may only have to be off the TICONDEROGA, but
wants the added flexibility of recycling with both carriers. "The
problem" says Sharp, "is that it takes so damn long to get the word
out to them. ™ Sharp also tells Wheeler that both carriers had been
conducting air operations all night before in supporting the MADDOX
and TURNER JOY and as a result "they are kinda pooped out. " The
CONSTELLATION "didn't make as much headway as she would have
because she apparently had to turn in the other direction for a landing
and launching ... so that she is behind her hoped for position .
so that's the reason she launched late. ™ The TICONDEROGA, on the

other hand, "is also quite a long run from where she is to these various

targets; and she being a small carrier doesn't have as many airplanes
either. " Sharp indicates that the CONSTELLATION may have to scrub
only the northernmost target (PORT WALLUT) and this because of a
combination of factors, such as, the target's distance and the adverse
weather.

12:02 - 12:30 AM: Secretary McNamara holds a press con-
ference in which he describes the action taking place.

12:15 AM (12:15 PM, August 5, Saigon time): Six A-4s and
six F-8s are launched from the TICONDEROGA flying to VINH at an
altitude of 25, 000 feet. The target is 320 nautical miles away.

12:34 AM (12:34 PM, August 5, Saigon time): TICONDEROGA
launches six F-8s which depart for QUANG KHE, flying at an
altitude of 25, 000 feet. The target is 250 nautical miles away.
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12:38 AM (6:38 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Wheeler calls
Sharp and tells him that he has discussed the recycle with McNamara.
Wheeler's major concern is that the attacks must not be "open-ended"
affairs. Three rules are set for the recycle: First, up to 20 aircraft
may be used; second, the only target will be VINH; and third, the
attack should be laxinched no later than 3:00 AM, Washington time.
Sharp thinks that the 3:00 AM time is cutting it too short, with closer
to 4:00 AM as the more realistic hour. Sharp adds that he will do
his best to compress the time ajid will recycle as quickly as possible.
Wheeler indicates that he will pass this on to McNamara.

12:43 AM: Wheeler calls Sharp and tells him that the 4:00 AM
recycle time is acceptable to McNamara, but Sharp now indicates
launch on the recycle could not begin until 5-6:00 AM. Wheeler says
this is too late, and they arrive at an agreement that Sharp would
launch what he could up to 4:00 AM and would then have to cease.

1:00 AM (1:00 PM, August 5, Saigon time): CONSTELLATION
launches four A-1Is which depart for HON GAY, flying at an altitude of
from 1,000 - 5,000 feet. HON GAY is 360 nautical miles away.
CONSTELLATION also launches four A-Is which depart for LOC CHAO,
flying at an altitude of 1, 000 - 5, 000 feet. LOC CHAO is 330 nautical
miles.away.

1:11 AM (1:11 PM, August 5, Saigon time; 711 PM, August 4,
CINCPAC time): CINCPAC duty officer calls Lt Colonel Smith in
McNamara's office and says that the estimated times over target
for the TICONDEROGA will be 1:15 AM for the first and 1:25 AM
for the second. "Everything is on track, " he reports.

1:15 AM (1:15 PM, August 5, Saigon time): TICONDEROGA's:
six F-8s launched at 12:34 AM strike QUANG KHE with 20 mm shells
and 5" rockets. There is no AA fire. Seven boats are sighted, four
are severely damaged and one moderately. There are no U. S. losses.

1:25 AM (1:25 PM, August 5, Saigon time): TICONDEROGA's
four A-Is launched at 10:43 PM, six A-4s launched at 12:15 AM and
six F-Bs launched at 12:15 AM strike at the VINH - BEN THUY-
PHUC LOI complex. They report moderate AA fire. Of the six
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sighted, four are moderately damaged and two lightly damaged.
Eight POLi tanks and two AA guns are destroyed. There are no
U. S. losses. The ordnance used ranges from 1,000 Ib. bombs
to 5" Zuni rockets to 2. 75 mm rockets.

2:16 AM (8:16 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp calls
McNamara's office and gives the first strike report to Colonel Moody.
He states that VINH has been struck, the oil installation is burning
fiercely, the four PT boats in the harbor have all been hit, with one
dead in the water. Heavy flak has been experienced and one F-8 is
hit, headed for DA NANG. Moody says Vance will be promptly
advised of these developments. Vance is informed immediately.

2:30 AM (2:30 PM, August 5, Saigon time): The CONSTEL-
LATION launches ten A-4s and two F-4s which depart for HON GAY
at an altitude of 25, 000-30, 000 feet. HON GAY is 360 nautical miles
away. The CONSTELLATION also launches five A-4s and three
F-4s which then depart for LOC CHAOQO, flying at an altitude of
25, 000-30, 000 feet. LOC CHAO is 330 nautical miles away.

3:25 AM (3:25 PM, August 5, Saigon time): CONSTELLATION'S
four A-1Is launched at 1:00 AM and its five A-4s and three F-4s
launched at 2:30 AM, strike at LOC CHAO. They report moderate
AA fire (20 mm from the boats). The boats are not under way. Of
the five PT boats sighted, two are damaged seriously and three
moderately. One A-1 aircraft (Sather's, third in the column) is
shot down. One A-1 is damaged, but returns to carrier safely.

The attacks last 25 minutes. 2. 75" rockets and 20 mm strafing
attacks are used.

3:40 AM (3:40 PM, August 5, Saigon time): CONSTELLATION'S
four A-Is launched at 1:00 AM and its ten A-4s and two F-4s launched
at 2:30 AM, strike HON GAY. They report moderate to heavy AA fire.
Of the five boats sighted, five are destroyed. The boats do not get
under way until after the attack started. Alvarez' A-4 aircraft, the
second in column, is shot down while on a second pass against boats
at anchor. The attack lasts 25 minutes, with 2. 75" rockets and
20 mm strafing attacks utilized.
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3:43 AM (9:43 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): Sharp tells
Wisman of the Joint Staff that it might be best to pull the MADDOX
and C. TURNER JOY out of their patrol because they are low on
fuel and ammunition, and the North Vietnamese have already been
given a "good punishment. ” Sharp adds that to keep the destroyers
on station might invite further attacks, perhaps even a loss.
Wisman says this will require JCS approval.

3:58 AM (9:58 PM, August 4, CINCPAC time): McCutcheon
at CINCPAC calls Wisman about pulling the destroyers out. Mc-
Cutcheon says that these destroyers have special equipment and
could not readily be replaced, but that the ships have had several
sleepless nights. The relief of these ships would be temporary
only, about a 24 hour rest, after the strikes had ceased. Wisman
says he will talk to Burchinal.

4:03 AM (4:03 PM, August 5, Saigon time): TICONDEROGA
launches four F-8s and eight A-4s which depart for the restrike
against VINH.

4:15 AM {4i 15 PM, August 5, Saigon time): TICONDEROGA
launches two A-4s which depart for HON ME at an altitude of 25, 000
feet.

4:41 AM: Wisman calls Burchinal and tells him that an A-1
and A-4 from the CONSTELLATION have been lost over HON GAY.
(Note: Actually, one was lost over HON GAY, another over LOC
CHAO.) Burchinal is the first to be notified, and he suggests that
Wisman inform the Chiefs and the Secretary of Defense. Vance is
informed immediately.

4:45 AM (4:45 PM, August 5, Saigon time): TICONDEROGA's
four F-8s and eight A-4s, all launched at 4:03 AM, strike VINH.
They report heavy AA fire from the additional AA guns brought into
position after first strike, but they destroy two to four POL tanks
and six AA guns. There are no U, S. losses.

5:15 AM (5:15 PM, August 5, Saigon time): TICONDEROGA's
two A-4s, laiinched at 4:15 AM, strike HON ME with 20 mm shells
and rockets. They report no AA fire. Of the six boats sighted, three

are destroyed, three moderately damaged, and one is forced to beach.

There are no U. S. losses.
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6:08 AM: Wisman calls Mustin aind says the operation is
just about woiind up and was a "pretty good effort, highly success-
ful. " He states that Sharp was able to accomplish the recycle
against VINH and that the destroyer patrol is being pulled out,
with approval, for replenishment.

8:30 AM (2:30 AM, August 5, CINCPAC time): McNamara
calls General Milton at CINCPAC to check on the results of the
punitive strike, based on present information. Here, these facts
are confirmed:

64 strike sorties were launched (with 59 planes)
against 4 North Vietnamese patrol boat bases,
including the LOC CHAO estuary, and the support-
ing oil storage depot at VINH.

About 25 PT boats were destroyed or damaged, in
addition to damage to their bases and supporting
facilities.

An estimated 90% of the VINH oil depot, containing
14 tanks and 10% of the petroleum capacity of North
Vietnam, was destroyed. Smoke was seen rising
to 14, 000 feet.

Two U. S. Navy aircraft were lost and two damaged.
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ttoidsntifisd vsssols continuod to cioso* firod «nrain8 rownds. Insspko of
thoss warning rooads, tlks anidontUiod vsssols contiaasd to closo. Tim
dastroyors tlwa propsriy opoasd firs, and Un approackiag craft disappeared
witkottt cloaii” aikflicianliy to opsn firo on tte dastroyors. Tlm dsstroysrs aro
coatinaiag tiMir patrols in tiM iatsraaticmai w»tars of tiM Oaif of ToaUa and
U. 8. Air Forces and Sea forces remain prepared to raspoad isuxbodiately

to any attack.
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OFF THE RECORD
PRESS CONFERENCE NO, 30-B

of the
PRESIDENT OP THE UNITED STATES

1:15 P.M.
Saturday
September 19, 1964

In the President's O ffice
At the White House
Washington, 0, C,

THE PRESIDENT: | thought that you would like to know
for background -- this is strictly for background — what | have
been doing the last few hours in connection with the incident that
you reported yesterday in the Gulf of Tonkin,

I believe it would be helpful to you and certainly to
your editors auid your headline writers and the country if you had
full information on all the knowledge that the President has and how
we have dealt: with it.

Yesterday morning while | was reviewing reports from
the State Department and the Intelligence Department and the
Defense Department and other Cabinet officers reports that flow
to me each day, | had a call from Secretary McNamara shortly
after nine o'clock saying that they had a flash of the incident
that was later described to you as a fragmentary report and that
he wanted to alert me to that and that he would keep me informed
as to any further reports.

That was roughly nine o'clock at night out there. To
any of your old sailors, this would be understandable. To those
of you who have not been on the high seas and had to depend on
radar in the middle of a big ocean in the middle of a dark night,
you may be able to ~jgpseive it with more certainty, A lack of
knowledge sometimes/iis helpful in situations like this.

As the Defense Department stated, the reports were
fragmentary. They described the fact that they were out on routine
patrol, 42 miles from leind 2nd that unidentified vessels
approached them and they gave them a warning and they did not
heed the warning. They continued to close upon them and they
then properly in accordance with the instructions that had
been given then, they opened fire euid the unidentified vessels
disappeared.

Throughout that night, which was the day here, we
maintained both sea and air search, patrol and I guess a good
word xa observation, and the Commander-in-Chief of the Pacific
Fleetfi*XINCPAC asked for daylight reconnaissance and search and
observation which has been fully reported to us this morning
and has been carefully evaluatediby the Joint Chiefs and by the
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs, They brought these reports emd
evaluations in to me about 11 o'clock. The last two hours we
have discussed with then — the Under Secretary of Defense,

Mr, Vamce, Secretary of Defense McNamara, the Chairman of the
Joint Chiefs, and Secretary Rusk, Mr, Ball and Mr, Thwnpson,
General Carter of CIA, and !lIr. McNaughton, Mr, Reedy, Mr. Bundy
and 1.

Secretary McNamara w ill give you a more detailed and
technical statenent very shortly. | thought that | should inform
you of when | got the information, what information | got, which
was namely that they were being approached by unidentified vessels
and they were being warned. They were carrying out their orders
to take action in a situation of this kind. MCRE
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Ve have a right to the high seas and we will per serve and maintain
that right, and we acted accordingly.

Then, following their disappearance, we took extra
precautions by air and sea to dete rmine if there were any other
hostile or unknown or unidentified vessels in the area, and none
have been discovered.

Ve will continue to maintain our patrol in international
waters of the Gulf of Tonkin and our United States Air Force and
our sea forces have been instructed and directed and will remain
prepared to respond to any attack.

So what it adds up to is very briefly this: Our ships in
the night-time were told by their radar that they were being approached.
Ve don't want to get a destroyer sunk, so our commanding officers of
those vessels said stop, look, and listen before firing over them. The
radar showed them continuing to move in, so they promptly responded
in accordance with their proper action under those circumstances.
Several PT boats, several vessels, whatever they were, disappeared.

We pursued them through their night, which was our day,
throughout the area, and the only proper way to describe it is
that we have a report from CINCPAC that they have disappeared.
His reports are from the commanders of the destroyers and we
continue to maintain our patrol.

QUESTION: Do you have any reason to believe the boats
were sunk?

THE PRESIDENT; We describe it as "disappeared™.

CUESTIDN: Mr. President, are the instructions to them
the same as were issued in the previous incident?

QUESTION: Vhat about our vessel, Mr, President? Yhat
kind of ships were those of ours that were approached? Were they
destroyers ?

THE PRESIDENT: |1 guess it is all right to say destroyers.
They were destroyers. Ve have other forces in the area. We don't
want the enemy to feel that -> | don't want to get too specific on
just the number and what we have, but our destroyers were approached
by unidentified vessels.

I want to be frank with you and | have adequate knowledge
on the subject. 1 think it would be a little better, though, if you took
the detailed announcement that will be on the wires from the Pentagon
as soon as Mr. McNamara returns there. 1 don't want you to have to
learn my actions from the Colonel in the Defense Department when
you are stationed here to cover me. On the other hand, | don't want
to be describing the detailed military operations and the descriptions
of the boats and the age of the commanding officers, and things of
that kind, although I am prepared to do so. The answer is it was
destroyers and I don't want to get into any more details than that.

QUESTION: Vhen you say we gave warning that was fired
in the air at first, before we pursued --

THE PRESIDENT,; Alefired; yes.

QUESTION: Was there any firing from the other vessels
at all?

MORE
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THE PRESIDENT; | am aot in a position to confirm that
there was* | think that you should take up the details oflthe incident
with the people who have at their fingertips the description of the
incident.

For your information, I would confine my Presidential
background to this: that unidentified vessels approached us, we
warned them, we responded,tsand they disappeared.

question: h'ir. President, do you and your /administration
consider this a third attack, then? |1 gather from wheit you said for
background that you don't consider it a third deliberate attack, or you
haven’t decided whether it is.

THE PRESIDENT: 1 will repeat just what Ihave said. Our
d«38troyers were informed by their radar of the approach of unidenti-
fied vessels. They warned those vessels. They responded. The
vessels disappeared.

QUESTION: Yes, sir.

QUESTION: Mr, President, for the record, is there any
reaction that you will give us of your own to this incident? Is there
any statement that you care to make about it?

THE PRESIDENT: No. | think that this na tter is best
handled by trying not to exercise judgment until you have information.
That is what we have done. We try to maintain our equilibrium and
our knowledge of what is happening, and to respond immediately to
any attack, but not to unwisely, accidently, or recklessly start a war.

QUESTION: Mr. President, was there any —

THE PRESIDENT: But I am saying that as background be-
cause | don't want -- I am very conscious, after almost 30 years on
the Naval Affairs and Armed Services Committees of the House and
Senate, and the postwar Military Policy Committee, the Joint Com-
mittee on Atomic Energy, of the fact that statements and Senaite
speeches and articles by our own people may have contributed to mis-
leading both the Kaiser and Hitler, and may have brought about the
starting of a war, because they miscalculated our position and our
willingness to respond and our state of preparedness, and whether we
would really get into the war or not aiter the Lusitania was sunk, or
after Pearl Harbor when the ships went down. They listened to a lot
of voices that they really believed that we couldn't or wouldn't fight,
and maybe we were brought in earlier than we otherwise would have
been or maybe not brought in at all.

So I want to avoid any gambles like that that are not neces-
sary to take. | think that our country has a position in the world. We
have the right of the high seas. We are going to maintain that right.

We are not going to be provocative and throw our weight around, but
when we are attacked we are going to respond. Those are the orders to
our people.

I must repeat to all you old Navy men the concern that you
must have felt a good many nights at 8:30 in the evening on a dark night
when you saw a high Wadce or you had to depend on your radar, and now
you see it and now you don't. When these men saw on their radar screen
that they were being approached, they promptly responded before they
lost a destroyer.

MDRE
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If they hadn't responded, you would want to know why.
So they did respond —

QUESTION: Do you think there is a statement --
THE PRESIDENT; Let me finish my statement.

The radar kept showing that they were coming on in. |
believe Mr. McNamara will give you the details. 1 believe CINCPAC
reports there were four unidentified vessels. Well, they gave
them further response and they disappeared. We have rmde daylight
patrols which went on during our night»time. When we woke up
this morning we had the results of those daytime patrols which 1
have told you all I can about, all I know. Then we met to evaluate
those and talked to Admiral Sharp, and had the Joint Chiefs’
evaluation of them, and concluded what Mr, McNamara will shortly
tell you,

C follows
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QUESTION: Can you say whether the sea tcfti disclose-:,
any debris on the sea?

THE PRESIDENT: | would say that the view we had this
morning showed that there was a disappearance of the vessels, |
have no more information than that,

QUESTION: Would it appear, sir, that thds episode would
be closed now, that there is no further action connected with
this particular incident?

THE PRESIDENT: | would say I-Ir, llcNamara w ill cover
that in his statement. But | would say that ure will continue
to maintain our patrol and be prepared to do so,

QUESTION: Mr, President, in effect the reports —
well, was there any delay in communications because of inade-
quacy in ' :communication in getting the reports?

THE PRESIDENT: No,
QUESTION:  You were given full reports?

THE PRESIDENT: Wk got information as it became avail-
able and there was no delay in any information that you obtained
in the evening from out on the high seas, | could make same
comments cUaout impulsiveness, but I am not going to. It wasn't
on our part, | have been very, very careful and very cautious
to describe everything that we have that is confirmed. It is
information that is solid. So you can have all the information
that we have. But sometimes people can get it easier in an
office building than they can from a destroyer deck. But the
reports caune ,in*~".rThe reports-are. b”*sed on just what I have
said to you. They were fragmentary. They have to be checked.
We don't issue orders to go to war on the basis of a headline,

QUESTION: Mr, President, | gather you are not issuing
a new warning or ultimatum or anything to North Viet Nam?

THE PRESIDENT: We have made ourselves perfectly
clear to the world that we are aoing to maintain our rights in
international waters. Wk are prepared to respond to any attack,

QUESTION: Were any of our aircraft involved, sir,
from our ships?

THE PRESIDENT: | don't want to get into the details
of this incident, | would like you to teike that up with
Secretary McNamara, Strictly off the record, the aircraft are
involved because immediately upon the sighting of the ships,
the aircraft are latmched to patrol the skies. But they were
not shooting. But | would take that up with Secretary McNamara,

QUESTION: How many ships of ours were involved,
Mr, President?

THE PRESIDENT: Two destroyers,

QUESTION: Would you say whether they are the same
destroyers, the Maddox and the C, Turner Joy?
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THE PRESIDENT: No, but you can get that. They
will give you the nanes of them, | want to aive you all the
information that the Connander-in-CSiief, the President, has,
that you are entitled to, because your responsibility is covering
mej The details of the size of the deck and the size of the guns,
the kind of radar, the exact tine, the number of men aboard ~-
I know that there are roughly 250 on a destroyer, but I don't
want to get into that, I think you would get more accurate
and harder information, more detail, over there. The reason
I don't want to is | don't want the generals. Colonels and
Admirals all feeling like | am taking over that, | don't want
to develop an envy or gealously«

QUESTION: Sir, can you tell us if there are any
C3iinese Coromxinist patrol activities in that area as opposed to
North Vietnamese?

THE PRESIDENT: No, | can't, | believe | covered
that with unidentified vessels. That means ifeab you don't know,

QUESTION: No, sir, obviously,

QUESTION: Mr, President, radio Heinoi is saying that
this is, in effect, an unprovoked attack cuid they are going to
take this to the International Control Commission, What is
your feeling on that?

THE PRESIDENT: Just what | have told you, 'Riey cem
say whatever they want, | have told you what | have told you,

QUESTION: Mr, President, they also say we were shoot-
ing at phantoms,

THE PRESIDENT: | have told you what we know about it,

QUESTION: Mr, President, to whom may we attribute
this? I<Jnat sort of attribution are we using?

THE PRESIDENT: You ceui say the President did this,
the President is informed of this, and it is understood the
President was notified of this, and this was the action the

President took, 05 if you have any pride in authorship, you
can say that this is what the President did,

THE PRESS: Thcink you vejry much.

END

COPY LBJ LIBRARY





